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Operating License No. NPF–90 for the 
Watts Bar Nuclear Plant, Unit No. 1, 
located in Rhea County, Tennessee. 

The proposed amendment would 
have revised the Technical 
Specifications to increase the 
temperature limit of the ultimate heat 
sink. 

The Commission had previously 
issued a Notice of Consideration of 
Issuance of Amendment published in 
the Federal Register on May 23, 2006 
(71 FR 29681). However, by letter dated 
July 20, 2007, the licensee withdrew the 
proposed change. 

For further details with respect to this 
action, see the application for 
amendment dated May 8, 2006, and the 
licensee’s letter dated July 20, 2007, 
which withdrew the application for 
license amendment. Documents may be 
examined, and/or copied for a fee, at the 
NRC’s Public Document Room (PDR), 
located at One White Flint North, Public 
File Area O1 F21, 11555 Rockville Pike 
(first floor), Rockville, Maryland. 
Publicly available records will be 
accessible electronically from the 
Agency-wide Documents Access and 
Management Systems (ADAMS) Public 
Electronic Reading Room on the internet 
at the NRC Web site, http:// 
www.nrc.gov/reading-rm.html. Persons 
who do not have access to ADAMS or 
who encounter problems in accessing 
the documents located in ADAMS 
should contact the NRC PDR Reference 
staff by telephone at 1–800–397–4209, 
or 301–415–4737 or by e-mail to 
pdr@nrc.gov. 

Dated at Rockville, Maryland, this 26th day 
of July 2007. 

For the Nuclear Regulatory Commission. 
Brendan T. Moroney, 
Project Manager, Plant Licensing Branch II– 
2, Division of Operating Reactor Licensing, 
Office of Nuclear Reactor Regulation. 
[FR Doc. E7–15047 Filed 8–1–07; 8:45 am] 
BILLING CODE 7590–01–P 

NUCLEAR REGULATORY 
COMMISSION 

[EA–06–266, 06–278] 

In the Matter of University of 
Pittsburgh; Confirmatory Order 
(Effective Immediately) 

I 

University of Pittsburgh (UPitt or 
licensee) is the holder of Byproduct 
Material License 37–00245–09 issued by 
the Nuclear Regulatory Commission 
(NRC or Commission) pursuant to 10 
CFR Part 30. License No. 37–00245–09 
was originally issued on February 5, 

1987, and is due to expire on May 31, 
2015. 

II 
On March 10, 2005, and March 23, 

2006, the NRC Office of Investigations 
(OI) initiated investigations (OI Case 
Nos. 1–2005–008 and 1–2006–023) to 
determine whether UPitt willfully 
violated the physical presence 
requirements on March 4, 2005, and 
whether a neurosurgeon had willfully 
entered the authorized user’s (AU) 
initials on written directives without the 
AU’s knowledge or consent. The 
investigations were completed on June 
15, 2006 and October 10, 2006. Based on 
a March 5, 2005, visit to the UPitt 
Medical Center Gamma Knife facility 
and the investigations, the NRC 
informed UPitt, in a letter dated 
February 27, 2007, that three apparent 
violations were being considered for 
escalated enforcement action in 
accordance with the NRC Enforcement 
Policy. To address the three apparent 
violations, the February 27, 2007, letter 
offered UPitt a choice to (1) Attend a 
Predecisional Enforcement Conference 
(PEC), or (2) request Alternative Dispute 
Resolution (ADR) with the NRC in an 
attempt to resolve any disagreement on 
whether a violation occurred, the 
appropriate enforcement action, and the 
appropriate corrective actions. 

III 
Subsequent to the NRC’s 

identification of the apparent violations, 
UPitt took several actions to assure that 
these events would not recur. These 
actions included: (1) Ensuring that an 
Authorized Medical Physicist (AMP) 
and an AU are present during each GSR 
treatment; (2) issuance of a procedure 
for physical presence requirements and 
posting it at each GSR unit; and, (3) 
hiring another AMP. 

Also, in response to the NRC’s 
February 27, 2007 letter, UPitt requested 
the use of ADR to resolve the apparent 
violations and pending enforcement 
action. ADR is a process in which a 
neutral mediator, with no decision- 
making authority, assists the NRC and 
UPitt to resolve any disagreements on 
whether a violation occurred, the 
appropriate enforcement action, and the 
appropriate corrective actions. At 
UPitt’s request, an ADR session was 
held in the Region I Office in King of 
Prussia, PA on May 17, 2007, between 
UPitt and the NRC. This ADR session 
was mediated by a professional 
mediator, arranged through Cornell 
University’s Institute of Conflict 
Management. Based on the discussion 
during the ADR session, a settlement 
agreement was reached regarding this 

matter. The elements of the settlement 
agreement are as follows: 

1. As noted in an NRC letter dated 
February 27, 2007, based on an NRC 
inspection and NRC investigations, the 
NRC identified three apparent violations 
of NRC requirements at the University 
of Pittsburgh Medical Center Gamma 
Knife facility. The first apparent 
violation, which involved a failure to 
meet physical presence requirements 
described in 10 CFR 35.615(f)(3), 
included three examples, two of which 
involved willfulness. The examples 
included: (1) A March 4, 2005, failure to 
meet physical presence requirements in 
that a GSR treatment was conducted 
without the continuous physical 
presence of an AMP; (2) multiple 
incidents between May 13, 2004 and 
March 10, 2005, when two 
neurosurgeons, in careless disregard of 
NRC regulations, initiated GSR 
treatments in separate suites with only 
one AMP available to meet physical 
presence requirements; and, (3) a 
February 22, 2005, incident when one 
neurosurgeon willfully initiated a 
treatment without a written directive 
signed by an AU and without the 
physical presence of an AU. The second 
apparent violation involved licensee 
management’s failure to ensure that GSR 
activities met NRC requirements, as 
required by 10 CFR 35.24(b). The third 
apparent violation involved multiple 
occasions when a neurosurgeon 
recorded the Radiation Therapist’s 
initials on the GSR written directive, 
causing the licensee to violate 10 CFR 
35.32. In the NRC February 27, 2007 
letter, the NRC noted that it had not 
determined that violations had occurred 
or that enforcement should be taken, 
and the NRC offered the licensee an 
opportunity to attend a PEC prior to 
making an enforcement decision. In the 
alternative, the NRC offered the licensee 
the opportunity to attend an ADR 
mediation session to resolve these 
matters. 

2. As a result of an ADR mediation 
session conducted on May 17, 2007, the 
licensee and the NRC agreed to final 
disposition of this matter by way of a 
single violation of the regulatory 
requirements in 10 CFR 35.24(b). 
Specifically, the licensee through the 
Radiation Safety Officer: (a) Failed to 
ensure from May 13, 2004 through 
March 10, 2005, the physical presence 
requirements of 10 CFR 35.615(f)(3) 
were consistently met; and (b) failed to 
ensure between 1998 and 2000 that 
written directives were consistently 
signed by all three members of the 
Gamma Knife team prior to 
administration of GSR treatments in 
accordance with 10 CFR 35.32. The NRC 
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concluded that certain aspects of the 10 
CFR 35.24(b) violation were willful. The 
licensee disputed this conclusion. The 
NRC and the licensee have agreed to 
disagree regarding any willful aspects of 
this violation. 

3. Prior to the ADR mediation session, 
the licensee described the actions that it 
had taken to address the apparent 
violations identified by the NRC. Those 
actions included: (1) Ensuring that an 
AMP and an AU are present during each 
GSR treatment; (2) issuance of a 
procedure for physical presence 
requirements and posting it at each GSR 
unit; and, (3) hiring another AMP. Some 
of these actions were verified by the 
NRC during the following: (1) An on-site 
inspection on March 15–17, 2005; (2) 
the NRC’s review of the UPitt response 
to a Confirmatory Action Letter (CAL), 
dated April 28, 2005; (3) an on-site 
inspection on May 12, 2005 to follow- 
up on the CAL; and, (4) a routine 
inspection performed September 25–29, 
2006. 

4. During the ADR mediation session, 
the licensee also described additional 
corrective actions that it had taken or 
planned, which includes: (1) Having the 
RSO initiate a requirement for a 
physical presence log to be maintained 
at each gamma knife treatment console, 
to include patient name, AU physically 
present, AMP physically present, date, 
and start/stop time of treatment; (2) 
having the RSO staff provide annual 
radiation safety training to the gamma 
knife staff, including a review of all 
applicable requirements in 10 CFR Parts 
19, 20, and 35, with emphasis on the 
physical presence and written directive 
requirements; (3) having an outside 
independent consultant (medical RSO) 
conduct an audit of the Radiation Safety 
Program with special emphasis on the 
gamma knife program and management 
oversight; (4) increasing surveillance of 
GSR treatments by RSO staff; and, (5) 
developing a program to heighten 
awareness of the need to report 
concerns, and including this program in 
initial and refresher training for all 
radiation workers, to foster an 
environment for raising safety concerns. 

5. To provide further opportunity for 
other licensees in the industry to learn 
from this incident, UPitt also agreed to: 
(1) Enhance its 40 hour GSR training 
course provided to users at other 
facilities throughout the United States, 
including expanding the lecture on NRC 
regulatory requirements to include the 
physical presence requirements, 
including a description of this 
experience as part of the training; and, 
(2) submit a lessons-learned article for 
the Operational Radiation Safety 
publication and the Elekta Newsletter, 

eWavelength, describing these 
occurrences. The licensee will provide a 
copy of the training syllabus before 
conducting the training, and a copy of 
the article to the NRC at least 30 days 
prior to the submittal of the article to 
the organization. 

6. In light of the actions that the 
licensee has taken, or committed to take, 
as described in Items 3–5 above, as well 
as the fact that the violation did not 
result in any known safety 
consequences to patients, workers, or 
the public, the NRC agrees to issue a 
Notice of Violation without a civil 
penalty for the violation as 
characterized in Item 2 and to classify 
the violation at Severity Level III. This 
action will be publically available in 
ADAMS and on the NRC ‘‘Significant 
Enforcement Actions’’ Web site. 

7. The licensee also agreed to issuance 
of a Confirmatory Order confirming this 
agreement. 

IV 

In light of the actions UPitt has taken 
and agreed to take to correct the 
violations and prevent recurrence, as set 
forth in Section III above, the NRC has 
concluded that its concerns can be 
resolved through implementation of 
UPitt’s commitments as outlined in this 
Confirmatory Order. The NRC has also 
determined that these commitments 
shall be confirmed by this Confirmatory 
Order. Based on the above and UPitt’s 
consent, this Confirmatory Order is 
immediately effective upon issuance. 

V 

Accordingly, pursuant to Sections 81, 
161b, 161i, 161o, 182, and 186 of the 
Atomic Energy Act of 1954, as amended, 
and the Commission’s regulations in 10 
CFR Part 2.202 and 10 CFR Part 30 and 
35, it is hereby ordered, that within one 
year of the date of this order: 

1. UPitt will enhance its 40 hour GSR 
training course provided to users at 
other facilities throughout the United 
States, including expanding the lecture 
on NRC regulatory requirements to 
include the physical presence 
requirements, including a description of 
this experience as part of the training; 

2. UPitt will provide the NRC a copy 
of the training syllabus before 
conducting the training; 

3. UPitt will submit a lessons-learned 
article for the Operational Radiation 
Safety publication and the Elekta 
Newsletter, eWavelength, describing 
these occurrences; 

4. UPitt will provide a copy of the 
article to the NRC at least 30 days prior 
to the submission of the article to the 
organization; and 

5. UPitt will send a letter to the NRC 
informing the NRC that the actions in 
Sections V.1–4 are complete, and UPitt 
will send the letter within 30 days of 
completion of all of these actions. 

The NRC Region I Regional 
Administrator may relax or rescind, in 
writing, any of the above conditions 
upon a showing by UPitt of good cause. 

VI 

Any person adversely affected by this 
Confirmatory Order, other than UPitt, 
may request a hearing within 20 days of 
its issuance. Where good cause is 
shown, consideration will be given to 
extending the time to request a hearing. 
A request for extension of time must be 
made in writing to the Director, Office 
of Enforcement, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory 
Commission, Washington, DC 20555, 
and must include a statement of good 
cause for the extension. Any request for 
a hearing shall be submitted to the 
Secretary, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory 
Commission, ATTN: Chief, Rulemaking 
and Adjudications Staff, Washington, 
DC 20555. Copies of the hearing request 
shall also be sent to the Director, Office 
of Enforcement, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory 
Commission, Washington DC 20555, to 
the Assistant General Counsel for 
Materials Litigation and Enforcement, to 
the Director of the Division of 
Regulatory Improvement Programs at 
the same address, to the NRC Region I 
office at 475 Allendale Rd., King of 
Prussia, PA 19406, and to UPitt. 
Because of potential disruptions in 
delivery of mail to United States 
Government offices, it is requested that 
answers and requests for hearing be 
transmitted to the Secretary of the 
Commission either by means of 
facsimile transmission to 301–415–1101 
or by e-mail to hearingdocket@nrc.gov 
and also to the Office of the General 
Counsel by means of facsimile 
transmission to 301–415–3725 or e-mail 
to OGCMailCenter@nrc.gov. If such a 
person requests a hearing, that person 
shall set forth with particularity the 
manner in which his interest is 
adversely affected by this Order, and 
shall address the criteria set forth in 10 
CFR Part 2.309(d) and (f). 

If a hearing is requested by a person 
whose interest is adversely affected, the 
Commission will issue an Order 
designating the time and place of any 
hearing. If a hearing is held, the issue to 
be considered at such hearing shall be 
whether this Confirmatory Order shall 
be sustained. An answer or a request for 
a hearing shall not stay the immediate 
effectiveness of this order. 

Dated this 23th day of July 2007. 
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For the Nuclear Regulatory Commission. 
Marc L. Dapas, 
Deputy Regional Administrator. 
[FR Doc. E7–15046 Filed 8–1–07; 8:45 am] 
BILLING CODE 7590–01–P 

NUCLEAR REGULATORY 
COMMISSION 

[Docket No. 50–293] 

Entergy Nuclear Operations, Inc.; 
Pilgrim Nuclear Power Station; Notice 
of Availability of the Final Supplement 
29 to the Generic Environmental 
Impact Statement for License Renewal 
of Nuclear Plants, Regarding the 
License Renewal of Pilgrim Nuclear 
Power Station 

Notice is hereby given that the U.S. 
Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC, 
Commission) has published a final 
plant-specific supplement to the 
‘‘Generic Environmental Impact 
Statement for License Renewal of 
Nuclear Plants (GEIS),’’ NUREG–1437, 
regarding the renewal of operating 
license DPR–35 for an additional 20 
years of operation for the Pilgrim 
Nuclear Power Station (Pilgrim). Pilgrim 
is located on the western shore of Cape 
Cod in the Town of Plymouth, 
Plymouth County, Massachusetts. It is 
38 miles southeast of Boston, 
Massachusetts, and 44 miles east of 
Providence, Rhode Island. Possible 
alternatives to the proposed action 
(license renewal) include no action and 
reasonable alternative energy sources. 

As discussed in Section 9.3 of the 
final Supplement 29, the 
recommendation of the staff is that the 
Commission determine that the adverse 
environmental impacts of license 
renewal for Pilgrim are not so great that 
preserving the option of license renewal 
for energy-planning decision makers 
would be unreasonable. The 
recommendation is based on: (1) The 
analysis and findings in the GEIS; (2) 
the Environmental Report submitted by 
Entergy; (3) consultation with Federal, 
State, and local agencies; (4) the staff’s 
own independent review; and (5) the 
staff’s consideration of public 
comments. 

The final Supplement 29 to the GEIS 
is publicly available at the NRC Public 
Document Room (PDR), located at One 
White Flint North, 11555 Rockville 
Pike, Rockville, Maryland, 20852, or 
from the NRC’s Agencywide Documents 
Access and Management System 
(ADAMS). The ADAMS Public 
Electronic Reading Room is accessible at 
http://adamswebsearch.nrc.gov/ 
dologin.htm. The Accession Numbers 
for the final Supplement 29 to the GEIS 

are ML071990020 Volume 1 and 
ML071990027 Volume 2. Persons who 
do not have access to ADAMS, or who 
encounter problems in accessing the 
documents located in ADAMS, should 
contact the NRC’s PDR reference staff by 
telephone at 1–800–397–4209, or 301– 
415–4737, or by e-mail at pdr@nrc.gov. 
In addition, the final supplement will be 
available at the following libraries for 
public inspection: the Plymouth Public 
Library, 132 South Street, the Duxbury 
Free Library, 77 Alden Street, and the 
Kingston Public Library, 6 Green Street. 
FOR FURTHER INFORMATION, CONTACT: Ms. 
Alicia Williamson, Environmental 
Branch B, Division of License Renewal, 
Office of Nuclear Reactor Regulation, 
U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, 
Mail Stop O–11F1, Washington, DC 
20555–0001. Ms. Williamson may be 
contacted by telephone at 1–800–368– 
5642, extension 1878 or via e-mail at 
arw1@nrc.gov. 

Dated at Rockville, Maryland, this 26th day 
of July, 2007. 

For the Nuclear Regulatory Commission. 
Rani L. Franovich, 
Branch Chief, Environmental Branch B, 
Division of License Renewal, Office of Nuclear 
Reactor Regulation. 
[FR Doc. E7–15051 Filed 8–1–07; 8:45 am] 
BILLING CODE 7590–01–P 

NUCLEAR REGULATORY 
COMMISSION 

[Docket No. 030–07188] 

Notice of Environmental Assessment 
Related to the Issuance of a License 
Amendment to By-product Material 
License No. 21–05199–02, for 
Unrestricted Release of Former 
Facilities for the State of Michigan, 
Department of Environmental Quality, 
Lansing, MI 

AGENCY: Nuclear Regulatory 
Commission. 
ACTION: Issuance of Environmental 
Assessment and Finding of No 
Significant Impact for License 
Amendment. 

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT: 
William Snell, Senior Health Physicist, 
Decommissioning Branch, Division of 
Nuclear Materials Safety, Region III, 
U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, 
2443 Warrenville Road, Lisle, Illinois 
60532; telephone: (630) 829–9871; fax 
number: (630) 515–1259; or by email at 
wgs@nrc.gov. 
SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION: The U.S. 
Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) 
is considering the issuance of an 
amendment to NRC By-product 

Materials License No. 21–05199–02, 
which is held by the State of Michigan, 
Department of Environmental Quality 
(licensee). The amendment would 
authorize the decommissioning and 
unrestricted release of the licensee’s 
former facilities located at 3423 and 
3500 N. Martin Luther King Jr. Blvd., 
Lansing, Michigan (the facilities). The 
NRC has prepared an Environmental 
Assessment in support of this action in 
accordance with the requirements of 10 
CFR Part 51. Based on the 
Environmental Assessment, the NRC 
has determined that a Finding of No 
Significant Impact is appropriate. The 
amendment to the State of Michigan’s 
Department of Environmental Quality 
license will be issued following the 
publication of this Environmental 
Assessment and Finding of No 
Significant Impact. 

I. Environmental Assessment 

Identification of Proposed Action 
The proposed action would approve 

the State of Michigan’s Department of 
Environmental Quality request to 
amend its license and release the 
facilities for unrestricted use in 
accordance with 10 CFR Part 20, 
Subpart E. The proposed action does not 
pertain to the licensee’s radiological 
laboratory at 815 Terminal Road, in 
Lansing, Michigan, where licensed 
activities will continue. The proposed 
action is in accordance with the 
licensee’s request to the U.S. Nuclear 
Regulatory Commission (NRC) to amend 
its license by letter dated February 28, 
2007 (ADAMS Accession No. 
ML070590426). The State of Michigan’s 
Department of Environmental Quality 
was first licensed to use by-product 
materials at its facilities at 3500 N. 
Martin Luther King Jr. Blvd. (formerly 
3500 N. Logan) on June 30, 1964, and 
at 3423 N. Martin Luther King Jr. Blvd. 
on February 21, 1997. The licensee is 
authorized to use by-product materials 
for activities involving instrument 
calibration and for analysis of 
environmental samples. The licensee 
was authorized to use sealed sources at 
the facilities containing cesium-137, 
cobalt-60, americium-241, nickel-63, 
and strontium-90. Isotopes that were 
authorized for use at the facilities in an 
unsealed form included any by-product 
material up to a maximum of 100 
millicuries at any one time. 

At the 3500 N. Martin Luther King Jr. 
Blvd. address, the licensee used by- 
product materials in two buildings. The 
licensee analyzed environmental and 
special samples in its Nuclear Counting 
Facility in Building 44, and stored 
radiological materials in its Radioactive 
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